STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

AUG 12 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Charleston County

G. Thomas Cooper, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

ALONDA DESAUSSURE,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-000137  
\_\_\_\_\_

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
\_\_\_\_\_

LAURA R. BAER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the PCR court erred in finding trial counsel effective where he failed to request funding for and obtain an eyewitness identification expert despite the necessity of such expert testimony to Petitioner's defense and the inadequacy of trial counsel to effectively defend the case without professional assistance?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 4, 2011, the Charleston County grand jury indicted Petitioner Alonda Desaussure for one count of armed robbery and one count of assault and battery first degree. App. 513 – 516 (Indictments). The case was originally set for trial in March 2013; however, on the first day of trial Desaussure made a motion to relieve his public defender, Mary Ford, which was granted. He retained private attorney, Aaron Mayer, later that month. App. 395, l. 21 – 396, l. 8; App. 447, ll. 4-14.

On June 21, 2013, the State filed its notice of intention to seek life without parole for the armed robbery charge, based on Desaussure's prior convictions. App. 357, ll. 9-17.

On July 8-10, 2013, Desaussure appeared before the Honorable Stephanie P. McDonald and a jury for a trial on the above offenses. Desaussure was represented by Aaron Mayer, and the State was represented by assistant solicitors Meg Haley and Spencer Compton. App. 1. The jury found Desaussure guilty of both offenses. App. 354, ll. 12-22. Judge McDonald sentenced him to the mandatory sentence of life without parole for armed robbery and the mandatory minimum of ten years for assault and battery, to be served concurrently. App. 358, l. 18 – 359, l. 6.

On September 24, 2013, Desaussure filed an application for Post-Conviction Relief (PCR). App. 362. The State filed its Return on February 11, 2014. App. 384. An evidentiary hearing was held on September 11, 2014, before the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr. Desaussure was represented by James Falk, and the State was represented by Assistant Attorney General Ashleigh Wilson. App. 390. The witnesses at the hearing included trial counsel Aaron Mayer, Ninth Circuit Public Defender Ashley Pennington, former trial counsel Mary Ford, and

eyewitness identification expert Lori Van Wallendael, Ph.D. App. 391 – 493. Desaussure did not testify. App. 491 – 492.

On December 15, 2014, Judge Cooper issued an Order of Dismissal denying Desaussure's PCR application. App. 499.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

## ARGUMENT

**The PCR court erred in finding trial counsel effective where he failed to request funding for and obtain an eyewitness identification expert despite the necessity of such expert testimony to Petitioner's defense and the inadequacy of trial counsel to effectively defend the case without professional assistance.**

### **Relevant Facts**

#### ***Trial Testimony***

Petitioner Desaussure was charged with armed robbery and first degree assault and battery in association with an incident that occurred at Gilroy's Pizza Pub ("Gilroy's") in Charleston, South Carolina on Sunday, October 3, 2010 at approximately 9:00 p.m. Daniel Cobiella was the only worker at Gilroy's that night and was in the kitchen cleaning when he heard someone enter the empty restaurant. App. 104, ll. 5-24. He heard what he thought to be movement of the tip jar on the counter, which contained seven dollars in cash and coins and credit card receipts. App. 105, ll. 2-6; App. 109, ll. 4-8. When he came out into the restaurant, he saw that only the receipts remained in the jar and confronted the sole person inside the restaurant about the missing money. The man denied taking anything. Cobiella got between the man and the door as he tried to leave, and followed him outside where they continued to argue. An altercation ensued and Cobiella's face was injured. App. 105, l. 7 -- 106, l. 18. Whether the injury was the result of the use of a knife was disputed at trial.

The trial judge heard testimony from Cobiella in camera and allowed him to make an in-court identification of Desaussure, even though he was never asked to make a pre-trial identification and despite the highly suggestive nature of the courtroom. App. 80 – 100. At trial, Cobiella testified that he could only see the suspect's shoulder and side of his head when he was initially inside Gilroy's. App. 108, ll. 5-15. When he came around the counter, he was approximately twenty-five feet from the suspect and continued to get closer as they argued and

moved down the street outside of the restaurant. App. 109, ll. 12-23; App. 111, ll. 1-21. Though the restaurant was well-lit inside, it was dark outside at the time of the incident except for a street light. App. 113, l. 19 – 114, l. 1; App. 116, ll. 4-14. There were not many people out on the street. Cobiella saw two people outside of Gilroy's and asked them to call 911. App. 116, ll. 4-9. Cobiella did not see any weapon on the suspect and claimed to have been focused "on the individual" during the altercation. App. 110, ll. 6-13; App. 116, l. 15 – 117, l. 4; App. 131, ll. 2-3. He could not recall what the suspect's bike looked like other than that it allegedly had a white bag on it. App. 114, ll. 10-14; App. 131, ll. 4-8.. Cobiella met with an officer at the hospital and described the suspect as "a black male, approximately six-foot-three in height, age approximately 50 years old, salt and pepper, close beard, close hair." App. 115, l. 21 – 116, l. 3; App. 127, ll. 18-24; App. 130, ll. 14-17. He described the clothing as a "long navy or black top." App. 130, ll. 18-24. Cobiella made an in-court identification of Desaussure, who was sitting at the defense table, as his assailant. But, he admitted that no pre-trial identification procedure was ever conducted. App. 109, l. 24 – 110, l. 5; App. 133, l. 25 – 134, l. 2.

Adam Corbin was standing outside of Gilroy's smoking a cigarette at the time of the incident. He saw an African American male go inside of Gilroy's and take money from the tip jar. He saw him come out of the restaurant followed by the clerk, who asked Corbin to call the police. App. 135, ll. 3-19. The man had asked Corbin and his friend for money before entering Gilroy's. App. 137, ll. 13-23. He observed the physical altercation between Cobiella and the suspect from approximately thirty to forty feet away but did not see any weapon. App. 138, l. 6 – 139, l. 5. He described the suspect as being six-foot two or three inches tall, with a scruffy beard, wearing jeans and a dark, long sleeved T-shirt with a stripe around the elbow, and approximately 25 to 30 years old. App. 139, l. 18 – 140, l. 7; App. 143, ll. 2-11; App. 145, ll. 1-

6. Corbin could not describe the suspect's bike because it was too far away. App. 140, ll. 8-13. He was never asked to identify the suspect. App. 140, ll. 14-19.

Officer Jonathan Burns responded to the initial call at Gilroy's and unsuccessfully attempted to locate a suspect. Approximately three hours later, at 12:30 a.m., he made contact with Desaussure. The original description of the suspect that he received was "a black male, six-two, slender build, with a very low haircut and he had a bicycle with a plastic grocery bag tied to the front of it" and wearing a "dark colored shirt." Burns saw Desaussure walking on the sidewalk with his bicycle, which had a plastic bag tied to the front. However, unlike the description, Desaussure was wearing a multicolored shirt with a black short-sleeved t-shirt underneath. App. App. 156, l. 4 – 157, l. 6. None of the other clothing found in Desaussure's possession at the time of his arrest matched that description either. App. 306, ll. 1-18. After being stopped, Desaussure informed Burns that he had a large knife in his waistband. This raised Burns suspicion because he believed a knife was used in the altercation outside of Gilroy's. App. 157, ll. 7-19. However, DNA testing found no blood of the victim on the knife. Additionally, Silcott, the sole witness who claimed to have seen the weapon, confirmed that the knife seized by Burns was not the knife used by the suspect to assault Cobiella. App. 208, ll. 2-14; App. 267, l. 15 – 268, l. 16.

While Burns was speaking with Desaussure, Stephen Silcott road by quickly on his bicycle and yelled something out at Burns. While he could not recall the exact words used, Burns believed it was "like, Good job. You got him." Silcott then stopped his bicycle and came over to them and identified Desaussure as the "the person that committed the crime at Gilroy's." App. 157, l. 19 – 158, l. 2; App. 160, ll. 22 – 161, l. 7; App. 162, l. 5 – 163, l; App. 163, ll. 5-25.

Burns could not recall if Silcott went into any further detail about the alleged crime at Gilroy's and did not conduct any formal identification procedure. App. 164, ll. 1-17.

Silcott was a cashier at a Five Guys restaurant, who was returning from his break when he observed "two gentlemen arguing over some money that had allegedly been stolen from Gilroy's, and the victim was asking the suspect for the money back." App. 194, l. 13 – 195, l. 6. Silcott saw the two push and shove each other, until the other "pulled out a blade and swung his arms wildly and managed to connect with the face of the victim." App. 195, ll. 7-16. He was going to attempt to help the victim, but once he saw a knife he decided to return to Five Guys and not risk any danger to himself. App. 196, ll. 1-15; App. 198, l. 21 – 199, l. 1. He claimed to have been within three feet of the altercation and that it lasted approximately five minutes. App. 196, ll. 16-17l; App. 198, ll. 3-5. He noticed that the suspect had salt and pepper hair and was a tall and thin, African American. He described the hair as the suspect's strongest characteristic. App. 198, ll. 6-9; App. 203, ll. 1-4. However, once he saw the knife, Silcott became focused on that. He recalled that it was a common knife with a two and a half inch serrated blade and a thumb hole to unfold it. App. 199, l. 10 – 200, l. 9. He described the night as clear, the area as well lit, and his vision as unobstructed. App. 200, ll. 10-23.

Silcott also made an in-court identification of Desaussure as the suspect he saw holding the knife during the altercation at Gilroy's. App. 196, l. 18 – 197, l. 4. Though he failed to mention it to officers on the night of the incident, Silcott testified that while he was on his way to work at approximately 5:00 p.m. on the night of the incident, he also saw Desaussure outside of Pop's Pizza. He claimed that Desaussure asked him for some change. App. 197, ll. 5-25; App. 202, ll. 20-25. He only interacted with the individual for approximately five seconds at that time. App. 198, ll. 1-2.

While riding his bicycle home from work at approximately 11:30 p.m. or midnight, Silcott observed a man stopped near “a couple police cars.” He yelled out “Okay, you got that piece of shit.” App. 200, l. 24 – 201, l. 14. The officer called him over and asked him if he “recognize[d] this gentleman.” App. 201, ll. 14-18. He told the officer “Yes. That’s the man from Gilroy’s that had, you know, been involved in a robbery earlier that evening.” App. 201, ll. 19-21; App. 202, ll. 2-25. He also “said a few choice words to the suspect.” App. 202, ll. 6-7. Silcott claimed to be one hundred percent sure that Dessausure was the suspect. App. 204, ll. 7-11. That was Silcott’s first interaction with police with respect to the incident at Gilroy’s, as he returned to work and did not speak to officers at the scene earlier that evening. App. 201, l. 22-24; App. 207, ll. 1-21.

At approximately 12:30 p.m., Sergeant Kelly Stone responded to the area where Burns stopped Desausure. Burns pointed Silcott out to him, and indicated that he had made an identification. App. 217, ll. 5-15. He testified that no other line-ups of photo arrays were conducted because they “felt confident that that was the strongest ID, was from Mr. Silcott.” App. 217, l. 24 – 218, l. 4. Investigator Richard Burckhardt went to Gilroy’s when the incident was initially reported, met with Cobiella at the hospital, and later responded to the area where Burns stopped Desausure at approximately 12:45 p.m. He indicated that the victim gave “a pretty good description of the individual who had attacked him.” App. 249, l. 18 – 252, l. 15. The description given was an African American male with salt and pepper hair, ash in color, with some sort of facial hair, wearing dark striped cloths and in his forties. App. 254, l. 15 – 255, l. 7. Though there were no unique identifiers provided and Desausure’s shirt did not match the description, Burckhardt said that the individual stopped by Burns “matched the same physical

description pretty much head to toe that was offered to [him] by the victim.” App. 157, ll. 1-6; App. 252, ll. 16-25; App. 306, ll. 1-18.

***Request for Judicial Notice***

Defense counsel requested that the trial court take judicial notice pursuant to Rule 201, SCRE, and Rule 803(18), SCRE, of any one of a list of articles discussing eyewitness testimony and allow him to read one of the articles into the record. App. 242, l. 24 – App. 243, l. 20; App. 244, ll. 12-20; App. 245, ll. 18-23. Rule 201(b), SCRE, provides;

**Kinds of Facts.** A judicially noticed fact must be one not subject to reasonable dispute in that it is either (1) generally known within the territorial jurisdiction of the trial court or (2) capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned.

Rule 803(18), SCRE, states:

**Learned Treatises.** To the extent called to the attention of an expert witness upon cross-examination or relied upon by the expert witness in direct examination, statements contained in published treatises, periodicals, or pamphlets on a subject of history, medicine, or other science or art, established as a reliable authority by the testimony or admission of the witness or by other expert testimony or by judicial notice. If admitted, the statements may be read into evidence but may not be received as exhibits. This rule is in addition to any statutory provisions on this subject.

The State opposed the request, arguing that defense counsel should have called an expert witness to testify regarding eyewitness identification and that this was not a proper subject for judicial notice. App. 244, l. 21 – 245, l. 9.

The trial judge found that what Rule 803(18), SCRE, references are periodicals “when they are established as a reliable authority by the testimony or admission of a witness or by other expert testimony or by judicial notice.” She found that the Rule was not applicable without “some kind of expert witness that says this is what we rely on.” App. 243, l. 21 – 244, l. 11. Further, she did not find that judicial notice was proper regarding a matter that experts continued to debate. App. 245, ll. 10-17. She accordingly denied defense counsel’s request to take judicial

notice of and allow the reading of the articles related to eyewitness identifications. App. 245, ll. 24-25.

***Evidentiary Hearing on Post-Conviction Relief***

Mary Ford was the public defender assigned to represent Desaussure. App. 446, l. 18 – 447, l. 3. She was relieved as counsel on the first day of trial in March 2013. App. 447, ll. 4-9. Based on her review of the discovery, she believed that it was necessary to hire an eyewitness identification expert witness and retained Dr. Brian Cutler to testify at Desaussure’s trial. App. 447, l. 18 – 448, l. 3. Ford retained the expert because the only evidence against Desaussure was an eyewitness identification once the knife seized from him by police was ruled out as being involved in the incident. She cited potential problems with Silcott’s identification and the circumstances surrounding it as matters that she thought an expert would be important to explain. App. 448, ll. 4-13.

When asked if she would have considered going to trial without an expert witness, Ford responded:

I mean I think there was enough that the I.D. lacked so much in credibility that I could have easily attacked it on my own because a lot of other things didn’t match up and I think I could have easily done that. But, considering that that one I.D. is all that the State had as far as evidence, **I do feel like an expert was necessary, yes.**

App. 451, l. 21 – 452, l. 2 (emphasis added). She further stated:

I think that there was a lot for me to work with, but I don’t -- if an expert, if it’s possible to have an expert I don’t see any reason not to have the expert. **To me this case screamed for an expert.**

...

**And as soon as I got the case that’s the first thing I recognized.**

App. 453, l. 23 – App. 454, l. 8 (emphasis added).

Trial counsel Aaron Mayer was retained in March 2013 by a friend of Desaussure and substituted as counsel in March 2013. App. 395, l. 21 – 396, l. 8; App. 447, ll. 10-14. Mayer is a solo practitioner in Charleston, South Carolina. He was admitted to the South Carolina bar in 2011, though he is also licensed in North Carolina and Florida. App. 395, ll. 6-20. Desaussure’s trial was the first jury trial in General Sessions court in South Carolina in which Mayer had ever participated. His jury trial experience included serving as “second chair” to the prosecutor in an assault case in North Carolina while he was in law school. App. 397, l. 9 – 398, l. 6.

Mayer admitted that his competency to represent a criminal defendant had been questioned in the past by Judge Kristi Lea Harrington. App. 398, l. 7 – 399, l. 1. He had attempted to obtain an order for funds to obtain a DNA expert for his client, Bryant Loyal. App. 495 (Petition to Authorize Funds for Independent DNA Review). The PCR court admitted into evidence an Order to Pay State’s Costs filed on May 29, 2013 in Loyal’s case, in which Judge Harrington found that “Mr. Mayer does not possess the required legal knowledge, skill, thoroughness, and preparation required under our Rules of Professional Conduct” and was “unable to provide competent representation to the Defendant.” The Order relieved Mayer as counsel. App. 398, l. 7 – 410, l. 3; App. 497 (Order to Pay State’s Costs).

With respect to Desaussure’s case specifically, Mayer could not recall if he met with Desaussure himself before or after executing a contract and receiving the initial payment of five-hundred dollars.<sup>1</sup> App. 396, ll. 4-6. The friend informed him that Desaussure’s public defender was relieved on the first day of trial. He recalled that they were upset that the identification

---

<sup>1</sup> According to Mayer, no additional payments toward his fee were ever made. App. 410, ll. 20-23.

expert was not there on the first day of trial, though Mayer explained to them that the expert's presence would likely have been unnecessary that day. Mayer claimed that he discussed with Desaussure's friend "the importance of having an expert witness to testify about the flaws and the problems associated with eyewitness identification in their first conversation." He told both Desaussure and his friend that if they wanted a free expert, they needed to stay with the public defender's office and that they would be responsible for the cost of any expert that he retained, which he estimated would be between one thousand and three thousand dollars. Even so, they expressed their desire to retain a private attorney. App. 396, l. 9 – 397, l. 3; App. 411, l. 4 – 415, l. 4.

Mayer never contacted public defender Ford to discuss her perspective of the case, but understood from speaking with Desaussure's friend that they had intended to call an identification expert. App. 416, l. 25 – 417, l. 14; App. 450, ll. 20-22. He agreed that the case "absolutely" called for an eyewitness identification expert. App. 420, ll. 4-6. However, he never contacted any potential identification expert or even found out who the public defender had intended to call as an expert. App. 419, l. 18 – 420, l. 3. It was not until approximately one month before the trial that Mayer realized that Desaussure's family and friends were not going to have the funds for an expert witness. App. 412, l. 18 – 413, l. 16; App. 421, ll. 4-10. He failed to ask the court for funds for an expert, based on his experience in Loyal's case. App. 415, l. 25 – 416, l. 8. He never told Desaussure that there was a possibility to get funds from the Commission on Indigent Defense to fund an expert either; in fact, he represented to him that the only way to get a free expert was to remain represented by the public defender's office. He did not conduct any further investigation into funding for an expert in Desaussure's case. App. 423, l. 23 – 424, l. 16. He stated that once he and Desaussure "made a decision to go forward at trial

without the expert, that it was his “strategy” to “chip away at the identification of these eyewitnesses.” App. 434, ll. 7-13. He conducted research regarding identifications, asked the trial court to take judicial notice of articles regarding identifications, and argued that the cross-racial nature of the identification may have affected its reliability. App. 429, l. 17 – 431, l. 6.

Ashley Pennington, the Ninth Circuit Public Defender, testified that though it was not a frequent occurrence, he has known of cases where private attorneys sought funds from the Commission on Indigent Defense to pay for an expert witness. App. 442, l. 21 – 443, l. 18. When private attorneys contact him about it, he has told them that there is precedent for it that he believes the Commission has been responsive to providing funding when the Circuit Court has found that there was a due process need for an expert witness. App. 444, ll. 7-20.

Dr. Lori Van Wallendael, Ph.D., testified at the PCR hearing as an expert in eyewitness identification. App. 457, l. 11 – 461, l. 6. Dr. Wallendael is an associate professor and associate chair of the psychology department at the University of North Carolina at Charlotte. App. 457, ll. 20-24. She had been qualified as an expert in South Carolina approximately six to eight times in the past and written eight published materials specific to eyewitness and earwitness reliability. While she has only testified as a defense expert, Dr. Wallendael has also worked with the Charlotte-Mecklenburg police department to develop better identification practices. App. 459, l. 3 – 462, l. 20.

After reviewing Dessauere’s case, she testified that there were “definitely” reliability concerns regarding the eyewitness identifications in his case. App. 462, l. 21 – 463, l. 5. Had she been called as an expert witness in Desaussure’s case, Dr. Wallendael would have discussed how memory works, the difficulties of cross-racial identification, possible weapons focus effect, and what kinds of best practice procedures could and should have been followed. She would have

also advised defense counsel regarding matters to inquire about on cross-examination of the witnesses and officers. App. 469, l. 21 – 471, l. 2.

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