STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Charleston County

The Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2015-000137

RECEIVED

DEC 30 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

ALONDA DESAUSSURE,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JUSTIN J. HUNTER
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar # 101254

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-4124

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

Petitioner argues that the PCR Court erred in failing to find Petitioner's plea counsel (hereinafter "Counsel") ineffective where Counsel failed to request funding and obtain an eyewitness identification expert. For the following reasons, Respondent contends that this argument is without merit.

Relevant Law

In a PCR action, the Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in his application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where the application alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the Petitioner must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064 (1984); Butler, *supra*.

The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Strickland, *supra*. Petitioner must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). The question is whether an attorney's representation amounted to incompetence under "prevailing professional norms," not whether it deviated from best practices or most common custom. Harrington v. Richter, 131 S. Ct. 770, 788, 178 L. Ed. 2d 624 (2011) (citing Strickland 466 U.S., at 690, 104 S.Ct. 2052).

The reviewing court applies a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of plea counsel. First, Petitioner must prove that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, the court measures an attorney's performance by its "reasonableness under

professional norms." Id. Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the Petitioner such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Id.

I. There is evidence of probative value to support the post-conviction relief court's ruling that Petitioner did not meet his burden of proving that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to obtain funds for and hire an eyewitness identification expert.

Petitioner argues that Counsel was ineffective for failing to obtain an eyewitness identification expert. Respondent submits that the PCR Court correctly found that Counsel was not ineffective.

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner alleged that Counsel was ineffective for failing to obtain an eyewitness identification expert. Counsel testified that he was retained after Petitioner relieved his public defender. He testified that Petitioner was aware that his prior public defender had retained her own expert, but also testified that at no time during his representation did he ever express to Petitioner that he would be hiring an expert witness for Petitioner unless Petitioner was willing to pay for one. (App. 411:18-25). Counsel further testified that Petitioner never gave him any indication that he did not have the means to pay for the expert witness. (App. 412:17-23). He testified that he did not ask for funding from the Office of Indigent Defense because he was unsuccessful in doing so during a previous case where he was retained as counsel. (App. 416:5-8). Counsel testified that ultimately Petitioner was unable to provide the money to hire an expert witness, but Counsel still felt he was ready for trial without an expert. (App. 421:1-15). Counsel testified that he told Petitioner that he felt an expert would be helpful but that as retained Counsel, he would not have the resources of a public defender and Petitioner would have to pay for an outside expert. (App. 411:11-25, 412:11-13). Counsel testified that he

heavily researched the reliability of eyewitness identifications prior to trial and "made the decision to go forward without an expert." (App. 422:15-16; App. 430:1-5).

In the Order of Dismissal, the PCR Court found that Counsel was not deficient for failing to obtain an eyewitness identification expert to testify on behalf of the defense at trial. The PCR Court found that Counsel articulated a valid strategic basis for his decision to proceed to trial without an expert witness, explaining that "Counsel provided credible testimony that after researching the reliability of eyewitness identification and the factors which tended to make identifications less reliable, he made a strategic decision to challenge the State's eyewitness identification testimony at trial without the use of an expert witness." (App. 507).

The PCR Court further explained its rationale, finding that Counsel "adequately cross-examined the State's witnesses, objected, and attacked the accuracy of the identification evidence without the support of an expert witness." (App. 507). The PCR Court found that Counsel vigorously challenged the eyewitness identifications without using an expert by moving before trial to preclude any in-court identifications by State witnesses who had not made out-of-court identification and arguing the many factors that would make the in-court identification prejudicial. (App. 508, citing App. 54:19-55:8, 95:24-96:22). The PCR Court further found that Counsel elicited testimony from the victim regarding the many factors that negatively affected his accuracy in identifying Petitioner.¹ (App. 508). The PCR Court also found that Counsel challenged the eyewitness identification evidence in his opening statement and closing argument,

¹ Specifically, the PCR Court found that "Counsel elicited testimony from the victim about the following: his poor vision at the time of the assault and robbery (App. 129:21-130:6), his vague description of the clothing of the assailant (App. 130:18-25), the fact that he never saw a weapon (App. 13 1:2-3), the fact that he never mentioned a white plastic bag in his description of the assailant's bike (App. 132:3-12), and the fact that he was never asked to identify [Petitioner] prior to trial (App. 133:24-134:2). Trial counsel also cross-examined Stephen Silcott, who identified [Petitioner] shortly after the incident, on the effect [Petitioner's] distinguishing features and change of clothing had on his identification of [Petitioner]. (App. 209:5-18, 210:12-14)."

again bringing up the factors that would negatively affect the witnesses accuracy in identification. (App. 509).

Furthermore, the PCR Court found that Counsel was not deficient in failing to request funding from the Office of Indigent Defense to hire an expert witness because he simply chose an alternative means of challenging the State's eyewitness identification evidence. The PCR Court also noted Petitioner's prior public defender's testimony at the PCR hearing that although she retained an expert, she could have easily attacked it on her own. (App. 509).

The PCR Court found that Petitioner failed to prove that he was prejudiced because he failed to show that the result of his trial would have been different. Most notably, the PCR Court found that the eyewitness identification expert presented at the PCR hearing "testified there were factors and circumstances present in [Petitioner's] case which tended to *decrease* the accuracy of the eyewitness identifications" and "testified that there were factors and circumstances present in [Petitioner's] case which tended to *increase* the accuracy of the eyewitness identifications." (App. 510) (emphasis in original). Thus, the PCR Court found that the nature of the expert testimony does not suggest a reasonable probability that it would have affected the outcome.

Further, the PCR Court found that Petitioner was not prejudiced by Counsel's failure to obtain an eyewitness identification expert since the jury was given an identification jury instruction that highlighted potential factors that affect the accuracy of eyewitness identification evidence. (App. 510, citing App 343:4-16). Lastly, the PCR Court found that Petitioner was not prejudiced by Counsel's failure to obtain funding from the Office of Indigent Defense because he failed to provide any testimony or evidence to show that the request would have been granted. (App. 511).

Analysis

Petitioner's argument is without merit. First, the PCR Court found that Counsel provided credible testimony. This Court must give great deference to the PCR judge's determinations of witness credibility. See Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 13, 430 S.E.2d 517, 522 (1993) (finding great deference is given to the PCR judge's findings on the credibility of witnesses); see also Menne v. Keowee Key Prop. Owners' Ass'n, Inc., 368 S.C. 557, 567, 629 S.E.2d 690, 696 (Ct. App. 2006) ("Because the appellate court lacks the opportunity for direct observation of the witnesses, it should accord great deference to trial court findings where matters of credibility are involved."). Additionally, the PCR Court found that Counsel articulated a valid strategic basis for his decision to proceed without an expert. Where counsel articulates a valid strategic reason for his action or inaction, counsel's performance should not be found ineffective. Roseboro v. State, 317 S.C. 292, 454 S.E.2d 312 (1996); Underwood v. State, 309 S.C. 560, 425 S.E.2d 20 (1992); Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992). Courts must be wary of second guessing counsel's trial tactics; and where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing such strategy, such conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel. Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 529 (1992).

There is certainly probative evidence to support the PCR Court's rulings. First, Counsel made it clear that his agreement with Petitioner did not include calling an expert witness unless Petitioner paid for it. Counsel testified that he was always under the impression that Petitioner could pay for such an expert until Petitioner informed him right before trial that he could not. The PCR Court correctly found that Counsel then developed a strategy to research eyewitness identification issues and attack the State's evidence with a pre-trial motion and during his

opening statement, closing argument, and cross-examination of the State's eyewitnesses.² See Lorenzen v. State, 376 S.C. 521, 531, 657 S.E.2d 771, 777 (2008) (finding trial counsel's failure to procure expert witnesses did not render her representation deficient given she vigorously cross-examined the State's witnesses and attacked the accuracy of the evidence). See also Frasier v. State, 306 S.C. 158, 160-61, 410 S.E.2d 572, 573 (1991) (finding trial counsel was not deficient in failing to procure an expert witness to challenge DNA evidence presented at trial where the record established that counsel vigorously cross-examined the State's DNA experts and attacked the accuracy of the evidence).

The PCR Court properly found that Counsel elicited testimony from the victim that showed the jury many factors that would negatively affect the accuracy of the victim's eyewitness identification. Counsel's actions were reasonable under professional norms as he believed he could effectively represent Petitioner without using an expert witness. Even Petitioner's prior public defender, who hired an expert witness, admitted to the PCR Court that "there was enough that the I.D. lacked so much in credibility that I could have easily attacked it on my own because a lot of other things didn't match up and I think I could have easily done that." (App. 451).

Additionally, the PCR Court correctly found that Petitioner failed to prove that he was prejudiced by Counsel's failure to hire an expert witness. Specifically, the PCR Court found that Dr. Wallendael (Petitioner's eyewitness identification expert at the PCR hearing) testified as to factors in Petitioner's case that decrease the accuracy of the identifications present in Petitioner's case, but also testified to factors which increase the accuracy of the identifications present in

² See App. 508-509, "The record reflects further counsel challenged the State's eyewitness identification evidence in both opening and closing statement. In his opening statement, counsel highlighted to the jury the shortcomings of the State's eyewitness identification evidence. (App. 79:5-80:14). In closing statement, counsel reiterated the shortcomings of the evidence and told the jury that Silcott's identification of [Petitioner] was cross-racial which may have affected the accuracy of the identification. (App. 322:25-323:20)."

Petitioner's case, such as the witness's exposure time to the suspect (App. 474:1-5); the suspect's distinguishing features (App. 474:17-475:6); and the amount of time between the witness's view of the suspect and the identification (App. 476:11-16). Given the favorable and unfavorable testimony from Petitioner's expert witness, it is clear that the PCR Court was correct in ruling that the outcome of Petitioner's trial would not have been different had such an expert been utilized at trial. The PCR Court also correctly found that Petitioner was not prejudiced because the eyewitness identification jury instruction highlighted many potential factors that affect eyewitness accuracy, including several factors that Dr. Wallendael testified to at the PCR hearing. (App. 510, citing App. 343:4-16).

The PCR Court also found that Petitioner was not prejudiced by Counsel's failure to request funding from the Office of Indigent Defense because Petitioner failed to show that such a request would have been granted. The PCR Court correctly stated it would not speculate as to whether Petitioner's case would have fallen into the category of rare cases where retained counsel successfully obtains funding from the Office of Indigent Defense. (App. 511).

Accordingly, Petitioner has failed to prove both prongs of the Strickland test – that his Counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms and that he was prejudiced by Counsel's performance. As Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving ineffective assistance of counsel on this issue, the PCR judge did not err in denying the PCR application. See Frasier v. State, 351 S.C. 385, 389, 570 S.E.2d 172, 174 (2002) ("The burden of proof is on the applicant to prove his allegations by a preponderance of the evidence.").

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and affirm the PCR Court's ruling. Should this Court grant Certiorari, the Respondent requests permission under the rules to brief the issue discussed above fully.